# SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA





Case No. 89,363

Second DCA No. 95-04573

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

CARL T. BOAKE, ESQUIRE Attorney for Petitioner P.O. Box 60 St. Petersburg, Florida 3373 1 (8 13) 896-4674 SPN 00277479 / FBN 362001

#

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

A final judgment was entered by the Circuit Court for Pinellas County on November **8**, 1995, dissolving the **parties** marriage. A copy of the Final Judgment is attached to this Brief as Appendix pages 9-13. A timely notice of appeal was thereafter filed by the Respondent, appealing the Order of the trial Court requiring the Petitioner to support the minor child, CIARA DANIEL, who was born <u>during</u> the parties' marriage. (R: 143-148) The essential facts for purposes of this appeal are undisputed and are found in the findings of fact made by the trial Court in the Final Judgment:

3. The parties were married to each other on December 26, 1992. At the time of the parties' marriage, the Husband knew the Wife was pregnant with the child of another man. It was stipulated by the parties and the Court accepts the undisputed testimony and statements made to the Guardian Ad Litem that the Husband, herein, MICHAEL DANIEL, is not the natural father of the child. (A: 9).

The trial Court further found that after **CIARA's** birth in March of of 1993, the parties lived together until August of 1993, at which time they separated. The parties reconciled shortly thereafter and remained together until their final separation in November of 1993.

Guided by <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Privette</u>, 6 17 **So.2d** 305 (Fla. **1993**), the trial Court appointed a Guardian Ad Litem to represent and protect the best interests of the minor child and to make a recommendation as to whether the child's best interests will be served by allowing the Respondent/Legal Father to present evidence to overcome the presumption of the child's legitimacy. (R: 58) The Guardian's full report is in evidence and a copy is also attached to this Brief as Appendix pages 1-8. The Guardian Ad Litem stated:

"The issue is whether it is in the best interests of Ciara to allow Mike Daniel to present evidence to overcome the presumption that he is the legal father when he married **Tara** Daniel prior to Ciara's birth, was present at the birth, signed the birth certificate, provided support for the child during the marriage, paid court ordered support during the separation and presents the impression that he is an honest, articulate, stable, hardworking, ambitious and from a good family and a putative father exists who has a criminal record and past drug problem. . . It is also significant to me that there is a chance that the putative father may also not be the biological father, in which case, Ciara could possibly become illegitimized without a putative father.

Accordingly, it is my recommendation that it is in the best interest of Ciara to not allow Mr. Daniel to present evidence to overcome the presumption of her legitimacy," (A: 7-8)

Based on the Guardian Ad Litem's report, the trial Court found as follows:

This Court also accepts the findings of the Guardian Ad Litem that the Husband herein, MICHAEL DANIEL, is a responsible person and better able to provide for the support of CIARA DANIEL than the natural father and that it would not be in the best interest of the minor child to relieve MICHAEL DANIEL from his support obligation.

5. It is the specific finding of this Court that the Supreme Court case of <u>Privette v. Privette</u>, [sic] 617 So.2d 305, (S.C. 1993), changes the law in Florida that:

"Only a natural or adoptive parent has a duty of support to a minor child, "

It is the Finding of this Court that the presumption of legitimacy imposed on a legal father (the husband of the child's mother at the time of the child's birth) also implies a duty of support even after the dissolution of the parties marriage. It is the belief of this Court that support follows legitimacy and to find otherwise would be to leave the mother in the lurch by having to make a decision of support versus legitimacy. (A: 10-11).

Thereafter the Court awarded the parties shared parental responsibility of CIARA and required the Respondent, MICHAEL DANIEL, to pay child support in the amount of \$496.44 per month, (A: 12).

On appeal, the Second District relied on <u>Albert v. Albert</u>, **415 So.2d** 818 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), in holding that, "since the husband is neither the child's natural nor adopted father, and he has not contracted for her care and support, he has no duty to pay child support upon the dissolution of the marriage." (A: 16)

The Second District determined that <u>Privette</u>, *supra*, does not apply to this case. The court reasoned:

> The broad language of <u>Privette</u> has made it difficult for trial judges to know when to conduct a <u>Privette</u> hearing. <u>Privette</u> centered on litigation brought by HRS seeking to compel a putative father to pay child support <u>Privette</u> was a case of contested paternity involving blood tests. In <u>Robinson</u> <u>v. Department of Revenue</u>, 661 So.2d 363 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), the First District found the scope of <u>Privette</u> to be limited to cases involving (a) children who face the threat of being declared illegitimate and (b) "legal fathers" who face the threat of losing parental rights. We concur with <u>Robinson</u> but also conclude <u>Privette</u> has an even narrower focus. We conclude <u>Privette</u> does not apply unless the criteria set forth in <u>Robinson</u> are present and the matter involves contested paternity with the request for blood tests or similar genetic testing.

> Because the above concerns are not present in this case, <u>Privette</u> does not apply. First, paternity was not contested. . . . Second, this case did not involve a legal father who faced the threat of losing parental rights without notice and opportunity to be heard. Third, the child's legitimacy was not at issue. . . . We conclude that despite this Court's holding that the legal father has no duty to pay child support, the child remains legitimate. (A: 16-17)

The Second District Court then certified the following question as being of great public importance:

IS THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY OVERCOME WHEN A MARRIED HUSBAND AND WIFE STIPULATE THAT THE CHILD'S FATHER IS NOT THE HUSBAND BUT DO NOT CHALLENGE THE CHILD'S LEGITIMACY, AND THE BIRTH CERTIFICATE REMAINS UNCHANGED? (A: 19)

giving rise to the present appeal to this Honorable Court.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court should be cammended for protecting the best interests of the minor child in this case, as mandated by the law and policy of the State of Florida. The Petitioner herein, **TARA** DANIEL, contends that the trial court was correct in making that decision. In addition, the court was also correct in following the recommendation of the guardian ad **litem** by not relieving the Respondent/legal father, MICHAEL DANIEL, of his duty to support the minor child which was legitimate by virtue of being born during the parties marriage.

In overturning the decision of the trial court, the Second DCA was apparently persuaded by the Respondent's argument that because the parties stipulated that the Respondent was not the biological father, <u>Dept. of Health and Rehab. Services v.</u> <u>Privette</u>, 617 **So.2d** 305 (Fla. 1993), is not applicable and a guardian ad litem should not have been appointed. This argument, however, is without merit. Although it is true that the parties did stipulate that the Respondent was not the biological father, that fact is irrelevant in light of the this Court's unequivocal statement that, "there must be a clear and compelling reason based primarily on the child's best interests to overcome the presumption of legitimacy <u>even after</u> the legal father is <u>proven not to be the biological</u> father. " (emphasis supplied) <u>Id</u> at 309. Based on that passage, the trial judge had no choice but to appoint a guardian ad litem whose duties are to determine whether there is a clear and compelling reason based primarily on the child's best interests to overcome the presumption of legitimacy.

The Second District was also persuaded by the Respondent's argument that since no blood test or similar genetic testing was requested, <u>Privette</u> does not apply. A closer reading of <u>Privette</u> reveals the flaw in that argument. The fact that blood tests were not at issue in the present case is irrelevant based on the holding in <u>Privette</u>. Under <u>Privette</u>, trial courts must determine that it is in the best interests of the child to be deemed

illegitimate <u>before</u> even allowing the presentation of evidence to overcome the presumption. This construction is consistent with the public policy of protecting the welfare of the child. Essentially, trial courts must follow the specific instructions in <u>Privette</u> any time the child's legitimacy is at stake. CIARA DANIEL'S legitimacy is unquestionably at stake in this case and the trial court was correct in appointing the guardian ad **litem** to protect her.

Based on their opinion in this case, the Second District would allow the presumption of a child's legitimacy to be rebutted by agreement of the parties, without even the slightest consideration of the child's best interests. This result runs in direct conflict with the policy behind the presumption, i.e., the policy of advancing the best interests of the child. Perhaps the flawed reasoning of the Second District in this case can be described by a passage from <u>Sacks v. Sacks</u>, 267 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1972), which reads: "[t]he District Court of Appeal, ... allowed the question of legitimacy to obscure the true issue before the Court; that is, the child. The child's welfare is paramount. Too often this is forgotten." <u>Id</u>. at 75.

As this Court is aware, the law is well settled in this state that the obligation of support belongs to the child and not the parent. Therefore, parents may not contract away the child's right to receive support. Since the Second District in this case relieved the Respondent of any support obligation due to the stipulated fact that the Respondent is not the natural father (yet somehow determined that the child is still legitimate), the child's right to support was effectively contracted away by the stipulation of the parties. This result is a true miscarriage of justice and cannot be tolerated by this Court.

The Legislative intent, as expressed in 5409.2551 Fla. Stat. (1995), indicates that the policy of this State is for children to be maintained from the resources of responsible parents. The trial court and the guardian ad **litem** in this case followed that policy by not

allowing Respondent to present evidence to overcome the presumption, finding that it was in **CIARA's** best interest for Respondent not to be relieved of his duty of support.

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that the trial court correctly followed the laws and policies of the State of Florida by appointing a guardian ad **litem** to protect the best interests of the minor child, CTARA, and should not have been overturned by the district court.

### IL SUPPORT MUST FOLLOW LEGITIMACY

The opinion of the district court in this case attempts to draw a distinction between legitimacy and support According to the Second DCA, support does not follow legitimacy. (A: 18). Simple logic leads to the conclusion that one of the reasons the presumption of legitimacy was created was to protect the child's right to support.

Not only is the **DCA's** decision illogical in light of relevant law and policy, but it is also impractical in that it leaves this child in a very precarious situation. It is undisputed that CIARA DANIEL is a legitimate child. She is presumed legitimate by virtue of her being born in lawful wedlock. As a legitimate child, the law recognizes her mother's husband as CIARA'S legal father. The Second District does not dispute the fact that she is legitimate and that MICHAEL DANIEL is her legal father, yet they somehow declare that CIARA is not entitled to any support from her legal father.

The body of the argument will demonstrate the very precarious position the DCA left this child in. As such, it is difficult to reconcile their decision with the well established policy of protecting the welfare of the child. It would seem that the DCA ignored the directive handed down by this Honorable Court that, "the policy of protecting the welfare of the child, i.e., the policy of advancing the best interests of the child is a guiding principle that must inform <u>every action of the courts in this sensitive legal area.</u>" <u>Privette</u>, *supra*, at 307.

#### III. A BRIGHT LINE RULE IS NECESSARY: ASSUMPTION OF THE RISK

One can certainly argue that estoppel applies in situations involving a man agreeing to marry a woman whom he knows to be pregnant with a child not his own. The law should distinguish that situation from those where a man agrees to marry a woman whom he believes is not pregnant and the woman **later** becomes pregnant with the child of another man. A distinction also exists when a man opts to wed a woman whom he fully believes is <u>not</u> pregnant when she actually is pregnant with the another man's child. In the case at bar, there is absolutely no question that the Respondent, MICHAEL S. DANIEL, was fully aware that the Petitioner, **TARA** DANIEL, was pregnant with another man's child. (A: 9-10). Respondent nevertheless decided to marry Petitioner and care for her child as if it were his own.

These facts demonstrate the need for a bright line rule to distinguish this very unique situation in the eyes of the law. In order to clear up this unsettled area of the law, the best option for all concerned would be for this Honorable Court to correct the injustice done to the child by creating a bright line rule that: absent fraud or misrepresentation, *men who choose to marry a woman who they <u>know</u> to be pregnant with the child of another man are forever responsible for the support of that child, just as if he were the biological father.* 

### ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal in its order of October 18, 1996 (A: ), certified the following question as being of great public importance:

"IS THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY OVERCOME WHEN A MARRIED HUSBAND AND WIFE STIPULATE THAT THE CHILD'S FATHER IS NOT THE HUSBAND BUT DO NOT CHALLENGE THE CHILD'S LEGITIMACY, AND THE BIRTH CERTIFICATE REMAINS UNCHANGED?"

The Petitioner herein, **TARA** DANIEL, believes that question does not adequately deal with the totality of the issues present in this case, and opts instead address the following question:

"WHETHER THE <u>PRIVETTE</u> DECISION [617 So. 2d 305 (Fla. 1993)] MANDATES TRIAL COURTS TO APPOINT A GUARDIAN AD LITEM TO PROTECT THE WELFARE OF THE CHILD, AND ENGAGE IN A BEST INTEREST OF THE CHILD(REN) ANALYSIS BEFORE ALLOWING THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY TO BE REBUTTED IN DISSOLUTION ACTIONS BASED ON THE PARTIES AGREEMENT, LEAVING THE CHILD ILLEGITIMATE AND WITHOUT A LEGAL FATHER?"

#### ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOLLOWED THE LAWS AND POLICIES OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA BY APPOINTING A GUARDIAN AD LITEM TO PROTECT THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE CHILD AND ITS JUDGMENT SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISTURBED ON APPEAL.

The trial court should be commended for protecting the best interests of the minor child in this case, as mandated by the law and policy of the State of Florida. The Petitioner herein, **TARA** DANIEL, contends that the trial court was correct in making that decision In addition, the court was also correct in following the recommendation of the guardian ad **litem** by not relieving the Respondent/legal father, MICHAEL DANIEL, of his duty to support the minor child which was legitimate by virtue of being born during the parties marriage.

In 1993, this Honorable Court handed down its decision in <u>Department of Health</u> and <u>Rehabilitative Services v. Privette</u>, 617 **So.2d** 305 (Fla. 1993). In that case the trial court ordered the putative father to submit to a human leukocyte antigen (HLA) test to determine paternity. The putative father then petitioned the Second District for common law writ of certiorari. The district court granted the petition, finding that the putative father's privacy rights and, more importantly, the best interests of the child should have been considered by the trial court, <u>Id</u>, at 307. Without hesitation, the <u>Privette</u> decision stated that:

"We must start with from the premise that the presumption of legitimacy is based on the policy of protecting the welfare of the child, i.e., the policy of advancing the best interests of the child **This policy is a guiding principle that must inform every action of the courts in this sensitive legal area.**" (emphasis supplied)(citation omitted). <u>Id</u>.

Although, <u>Privette</u> was a paternity action, the district court in <u>Alchin v. Alchin</u>, 667 So.2d 477 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), held that the principles applied in <u>Privette</u> are equally applicable in dissolution of marriage cases. <u>Alchin  $\mathbf{x}$ t 48Alchin  $\mathbf{c}$  <u>o</u> <u>u</u> <u>r</u> t</u> determined that the trial court erred in neglecting to appoint a guardian ad litem to represent the best interests of the child, "as soon as the issue of paternity was raised." <u>Id</u>. at 479. In the case at bar, the trial court was correct in appointing the guardian because the question of paternity was at issue. Since support obligations are based on either parentage or contract, and there was no contract in the case at hand, the trial court necessarily ruled on the question of paternity or it could not have ordered the appellant to pay support. <u>Albert v. Albert</u>, 415 **So.2d** 818,819 (**Fla**, 2d DCA 1982).

In <u>Conrad v. Conrad</u>, 663 **So.2d** 662 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), the Second District, interpreting the <u>Privette</u> decision, stated "[t]here is a strong presumption of a child's legitimacy based on the policy of protecting the welfare of the child. . . . The child's interests must be represented by a guardian ad litem when a party raises the issue of a child's legitimacy." <u>Id</u>. at 663. (citation omitted). It is clear in this case that the issue of CIARA DANIEL'S legitimacy was raised, therefore the guardian ad litem was properly appointed.

The presumption of legitimacy was created to protect the interest of children who are either born or conceived in wedlock. <u>Sacks v. Sacks</u>, 267 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1972) CIARA DANIEL was born during the marriage of the parties in this case and was, therefore, born a legitimate child. As noted in <u>Privette</u>, Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution mandates that "[o]nce children are born legitimate, they have a right to maintain that status both factually and legally if doing so is in their best interests." <u>Privette</u> at 307. Accordingly, the Court declared that before blood tests can be ordered in cases of this type, the trial court must make a determination that "the child's best interests will be better served **even if the blood test later proves the child's factual illegitimacy.**" Id.

The Court goes on to state that the party requesting the tests has the burden of proving that the child's best interests will be better *served* by *clear and convincing evidence*. Noting that this burden is substantially **greater** than those in other discovery

contexts, the Court determined that, "it is absolutely mandated by the presumption of legitimacy and the policies on which it rests. Court after court in the United States has held that the presumption and its related policies are so weighty that they can defeat even the claim of a man proven **beyond** all **doubt** to be the biological father." Id. at 308. (italics supplied).

The Second DCA was apparently persuaded by the Respondent's argument that because the parties stipulated that the Respondent was not the biological father, <u>Privette</u> is not applicable and a guardian ad litem should not have been appointed. This argument, however, is without merit, Although it is true that the parties did stipulate that the Respondent was not the biological father, that fact is irrelevant in light of the this Court's unequivocal statement that, "there must be a clear and compelling reason based primarily on the child's best interests to overcome the presumption of legitimacy even. *after* the legal father is proven not to be the biological father. " (emphasis supplied) Id. at 309. Based on that passage, the trial judge had no choice but to appoint a guardian ad litem whose duties are to determine whether there is a clear and compelling reason based primarily on the child's best interests to overcome the presumption of legitimacy. The trial court did appoint a guardian who ultimately determined that it was in the best interests of CIARA DANIEL <u>not</u> to allow the Respondent to present evidence to overcome the presumption of legitimacy and relieve the Respondent of his support obligation. (A: 7).

The Second District was also persuaded by the Respondent's argument that since no blood test or similar genetic testing was requested, <u>Privette\_does not apply</u>. A closer reading of <u>Privette\_reveals</u> the flaw in that argument. The fact that blood tests were not at issue in the present case is irrelevant based on the holding in <u>Privette</u>. Depending upon the outcome, genetic testing is evidence which can be used to rebut the presumption by proving that the legal father is not the biological father. However, under <u>Privette\_trial court's must find</u> "that the child's best interests will be better served

even if the blood test <u>later proves the child's factual illegitimacy." Privette</u> at 308. (emphasis supplied). In other words, trial courts must determine that it is in the best interests of the child to be deemed illegitimate <u>before</u> even allowing the presentation of evidence to overcome the presumption. This construction is consistent with the public policy of protecting the welfare of the child. Essentially, trial courts must follow the specific instructions in <u>Privette</u> any time the child's legitimacy is at stake. CTARA DANIEL'S legitimacy is unquestionably at stake in this case and the trial court was correct in appointing the guardian ad litem to protect her.

Based on their opinion in this case, the Second District would allow the presumption of a child's legitimacy to be rebutted by agreement of the parties, without even the slightest consideration of the child's best interests. This result runs in direct conflict with the policy behind the presumption, i.e., the policy of advancing the best interests of the child. Perhaps the flawed reasoning of the Second District in this case can be described by a passage from <u>Sacks v. Sacks</u>, 267 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1972), which reads: "[t]he District Court of Appeal, ... allowed the question of legitimacy to obscure the true issue before the Court; that is, the child. <u>The child's welfare is paramount</u>, Too often this is forgotten." <u>Id</u>. at 75. (emphasis supplied).

As this Court is aware, the law is well settled in this state that the obligation of support belongs to the child and not the parent. <u>Department of Health and</u> <u>Rehabilitative Services v. Walker</u>, 411 **So.2d** 347 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Therefore, parents may not contract away the child's right to receive support. <u>Evans v. Evans</u>, 595 **So.2d** 988 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1992). Since the Second District in this case relieved the Respondent of any support obligation due to the stipulated fact that the Respondent is not the natural father (yet somehow determined that the child is still legitimate), the child's right to support was effectively contracted away by the stipulation of the parties. This result is a true miscarriage of justice and cannot be tolerated by this Court.

In <u>Ownbv v. Ownbv</u>, 639 So.2d 135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), the court discussed a situation similar to the case at bar, stating that before finding that HLA testing is in the best interests of the child, thereby allowing evidence to be presented to overcome the presumption of legitimacy:

the trial court must consider the ability and willingness of the putative father to assume parental responsibilities in the event he is found to be the biological father. Absent such consideration, we fail to see how permitting HLA testing could serve the child's best interests because, to permit such testing in a situation where the putative father were unwilling or unable to parent, would result, at best, in the husband having to support the child with a declaration of illegitimacy or, at worst, in the child not receiving support from either his legal or biological father. The reason that Florida's courts have recognized the strong presumption of legitimacy when the child is either born or conceived during wedlock is to protect the child's welfare **and** the child's right to receive <u>support. Id.</u> at 138. (footnote 3) (emphasis supplied).

The situation discussed above is factually analogous to the present case since the record indicates that the putative father is both unwilling and unable to parent. The Guardian Ad Litem's report discussed the putative father's criminal record and past drug problem. Nothing on the record indicated the putative father was willing to parent. Although the report noted that the putative father had "apparently turned over a new leaf," it also noted he is supporting not only his own young child, but his girlfriend's daughter as well, supporting the argument that even if willing, he is certainly not able to support this child. (A: 7). The Legislative intent, as expressed in **§409.2551** Fla. Stat. (1995), indicates that the policy of this State is for children to be maintained from the resources of responsible parents. The trial court and the guardian ad litem in this case followed that policy by not allowing Respondent to present evidence to overcome the presumption, finding that it was in CIARA's best interest for Respondent not to be relieved of his duty of support.

Based on the foregoing, it is clear that the trial court correctly followed the laws and policies of the State of Florida by appointing a guardian ad **litem** to protect the best interests of the minor child, CIARA, and should not have been overturned by the district court.

There is analogous case law that supports what the trial court did in this case. <u>Grant v. Jones</u>, 635 So.2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994), was a paternity case where a blood test had *already* been performed and established a high probability that the appellant was the biological father, The trial court adjudged the appellant to be the father and imposed an obligation of support. On appeal, the First District remanded to the trial court for a determination that it is in the child's best interest to allow the presumption to be overcome. The district court relied on the fact that, "there must be a clear and compelling reason based primarily on the child's best interests to overcome the presumption of legitimacy *even after* the legal father is proven not to be the biological father...." Id. at 47-48 (citation omitted).

In <u>Ownby</u>, *supra*, the parties to a dissolution of marriage action entered into a stipulation requiring each to submit to an HLA test. The stipulation was reached during mediation and the husband later refused to comply with the stipulation. The trial court granted the wife's motion to compel the husband to undergo the test. The Fifth District then granted husband's petition for certiorari, reversed the trial court's order and remanded with instructions to appoint a guardian ad litem to represent the best interests of the child. <u>Id</u>. at 138. As argued above, the principle in <u>Ownby</u> applies equally herein despite the fact that genetic testing was not at issue.

In <u>White v. White</u>, 661 **So.2d** 940 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), the parties to a dissolution proceeding stipulated to undergo a blood test to determine the issue of the child's paternity. The test showed that there was a zero percent probability that the husband/ legal father was the biological father. The court explained:

Without appointing a guardian ad litem to represent and protect the child's best interests as mandated by *Privette*, the trial court ordered that Appellant would have to continue in the role of legal father "unless evidence can be produced indicating some other individual is in fact the child's father." The order was entered without prejudice to Appellant to raise the issue again

"should he develop evidence indicating that someone else is the natural father of the minor child. <u>Id</u>. (citation omitted).

The Fifth District then remanded the case and ordered a full evidentiary hearing on the issue of the child's best interests because the trial court failed to join an indispensable party, to wit: the child as represented by a guardian ad **litem**. "The trial court was not in a posture to make this decision in the absence of a guardian ad **litem** to properly place the issue of the child's best interests before it." **Id**.

<u>Alchin v. Alchin</u>, 667 So.2d 477 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), was a dissolution of marriage action in which the wife filed a motion for paternity testing. The trial court determined that genetic testing would be detrimental to the child since he is presumed legitimate. <u>Id</u>. at 479. On appeal, the court declined to rule on the issues raised by the parties since, "the trial court erred in failing to appoint a guardian ad <u>litem</u> to represent the child's interests as soon as the issue of paternity was raised." <u>Id</u>. Although <u>Alchin</u> was a dissolution of marriage case, the appellate court held that the principles applied in <u>Privette</u>, a paternity action, are equally applicable to dissolution of marriage cases. <u>Id</u>. at 479-80.

It is interesting to note that in all cases of this type, regardless of the trial court's action - be it to the benefit or detriment of the child - the appellate courts consistently remand the case with instructions to appoint a guardian ad **litem** to represent the child. The rights of the child are the paramount consideration in all cases of this type. To allow any court, or even worse, to allow parties to a dissolution action to conclusively determine the rights of a minor child without requiring input from a guardian ad **litem** appointed to protect those rights, would be to undermine over fifty years of progress the law has made toward protecting minor children, arguably the most vulnerable segment of society.

### II. SUPPORT MUST FOLLOW LEGITIMACY

The opinion of the district court in this case attempts to draw a distinction between legitimacy and support. According to the Second DCA, support does not follow legitimacy. (A: 18). Simple logic leads to the conclusion that one of the reasons the presumption of legitimacy was created was to protect the child's right to support. "The reason that Florida's courts have recognized a strong presumption of legitimacy. . . is to protect the child's welfare <u>and</u> the child's <u>right to receive support.</u>" (emphasis supplied) <u>Ownby</u> at 138, *citing* <u>Gammon v. Cobb</u>, 335 So.2d 261, 266-67 (Fla. 1976); <u>Sacks</u>, *supra*, at 75-76.

It is difficult to understand why the presumption of legitimacy is to be given so much weight if it is merely a label to be placed on a child with no corresponding rights accompanying it. If the Second District is correct in assuming that the right to support is not contained within the presumption of legitimacy, then why would children have a Constitutional right to maintain the status of legitimacy? Art. I, § 9, Fla. Const. If the Second District is correct, then why would the Supreme Court declare:

"We must start from the premise that the presumption of legitimacy is based on the policy of protecting the welfare of the child, i.e., the policy of advancing the best interests of the child. (citation omitted). This policy is a guiding principle that must inform every action of the courts in this sensitive legal area." <u>Privette</u> at 307.

It would seem that the presumption is much more significant than the Second District and the Respondent would have us believe,

Not only is the **DCA's** decision illogical in light of relevant law and policy, but it is also impractical in that it leaves this child in a very precarious situation. It is undisputed that CIARA DANIEL is a legitimate child. She is presumed legitimate by virtue of her being born in lawful wedlock. As a legitimate child, the law recognizes her mother's husband as CIARA'S legal father, The Second District does not dispute the fact that she is legitimate and that MICHAEL DANIEL is her legal father, yet they somehow declare that CIARA is not entitled to any support from her legal father.

The decision of the DCA raises leaves many unanswered questions regarding the rights of this child. Initially, where can this child go for support? As a legitimate child

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