SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID 3. WHITE

JAN 18 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

TARA DANIEL,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 89,363

VS.

Second DCA No. 95-04573

MICHAEL S. DANIEL,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Peter N. Meros, Esquire Meros, Smith & Olney, P.A. P.O. Box 27 St. Petersburg, FL 33731 813-822-4929 Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Second District chooses what question to certify, not the litigants. The Petitioner apparently seeks review of the entire case, not just the certified question. There is no conflict alleged nor a Brief submitted on the jurisdiction of this Court to consider matters other than what was certified by the Second District. It is respectfully submitted by the Respondent that the sole issue before the Court is the certified question.

It is not the position of either the Petitioner or the Respondent that their dissolution of marriage had any effect whatsoever on the legitimacy of the child. The child was born during a lawful marriage and is legitimate. The parties to a divorce cannot change that by stipulation.

ARGUMENT

Only the District Court of Appeals, not the litigants, has the authority to certify a question to this Court to be of great public importance. (F.R.A.P. 9.030(2)(a)(v)) The issue certified by the Second District Court of Appeals is as follows:

"IS THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY OVERCOME WHEN A MARRIED HUSBAND AND WIFE STIPULATE THAT THE CHILD'S FATHER IS NOT THE HUSBAND, BUT DO NOT CHALLENGE THE CHILD'S LEGITIMACY AND THE BIRTH CERTIFICATE REMAINS UNCHANGED?"

Although the Petitioner herein seeks to reargue the entire merits of the matter before the Second District and not just the merits of the certified question, they fail to allege any conflict or other basis for this Court's jurisdiction. To the contrary, every District in the State of Florida is in accord with this Court's ruling with regard to the support issue. Alpert v. Alpert, 415 So.2d. 818, (2nd DCA 1982); Portuondo v. Portuondo, 570 So.2d. 1338, (3rd DCA 1990), review denied 581 So.2d. 166, (Fla. 1991); Swain v. Swain, 567 So.2d. 1058, (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Bostwick v. Bostwick, 346 So.2d. 150, (Fla. 1st DCA 1977); Taylor v. Taylor, 279 So.2d. 364, (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

Therefore, the Respondent will limit his argument to the merits of the certified question.

Neither the Petitioner nor the Respondent have ever taken the position that their dissolution of marriage had any effect whatsoever on the legitimacy of the child. Their

stipulation before the trial Court, that the Respondent herein was not the natural father of the child, was simply a recitation of fact and created no issues with regard to legitimacy. As correctly stated by the District Court:

"Only one person can be the biological father of a child."

The legal concept of legitimacy does not address the identity of the natural father.

To the contrary, all that is required is that the mother be married at the time of the child's birth.

As stated by Judge Whatley in the Second District Court's opinion:

"Paternity and legitimacy are related concepts, but nonetheless separate and distinct concepts."

Paternity deals with determining fatherhood while legitimacy deals with compliance with the law: "born to legally married parents". The American Heritage College Dictionary, 775 (3d ed. 1993). It is undisputed herein that the Petitioner and Respondent were married to each other at the time that CIARA was born. There is no claim that their marriage was illegal.

"A child born or conceived during a lawful marriage is a legitimate child. Matter of adoption of Baby James Doe, 572 So.2d. 986, (1st DCA 1990)."

"In Florida, an illegitimate child is one both conceived and born at a time its mother is not lawfully married..." <u>Lopez v. Lopez</u>, 627 So.2d. 108, (1st DCA 1993); <u>Dennis v. Department of H.R.S.</u>, 566 So.2d. 1374, (5th DCA 1990).

The laws dealing with legitimacy have evolved for the purpose of protecting the innocent children who have had no choice in their fate.

"We start from the premise that illegitimate children are not 'non-persons'. They are humans, live and have their being. They are clearly 'persons' within the meaning of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment." Levy v. Louisiana, 391 US 68, 20 L.Ed.2d. 436 (1968).

CIARA DANIEL was born during the lawful marriage of the Petitioner and Respondent and was thus born legitimate. That status cannot be changed by a mere stipulation of the parties.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully requested that this Court answer the certified question as follows:

THE PRESUMPTION OF LEGITIMACY IS NOT OVERCOME

WHEN A MARRIED HUSBAND AND WIFE STIPULATE THAT

THE CHILD'S FATHER IS NOT THE HUSBAND, BUT DO NOT

CHALLENGE THE CHILD'S LEGITIMACY AND THE BIRTH